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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

JOSEPH HENDERSON, SR.             * CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:15-CV-02907 

Plaintiff                      *  

VERSUS                * JUDGE ROBERT G. JAMES 

* 

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.              * MAGISTRATE JUDGE 

Defendant             *  

                                                            *    KAREN L. HAYES     

                            *     

            * JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *           

 

PLAINTIFF’S FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 NOW INTO COURT, through undersigned counsel, comes Plaintiff, Joseph Henderson, 

Sr., who, acting with leave of Court having been granted, files this Amended Complaint for 

Damages against Defendant, Office Depot, Inc., asserting claims for damages and other remedies 

as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. 

 Subject matter jurisdiction of this Honorable Court is based upon federal question 

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as Plaintiff’s claims are based, in part, upon the Civil 

Rights Act of 1886, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §1981 (1994), et. seq., 42 U.S.C. §1985, et. seq., and 

42 U.S.C. §1986, et. seq., with this Court having supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims 

asserted herein that are founded in the law of the State of Louisiana. 

2. 

 Venue is proper in this Court because the violations of federal and state laws upon which 

this Complaint is based occurred in Lincoln Parish, Louisiana, which is located in the Western 

District of the United States District Courts of Louisiana. 
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PARTIES 

3. 

 Plaintiff, Joseph Henderson, Sr. (“Henderson”), is an individual beyond the full age of 

majority, having full capacity to bring this suit, who is domiciled in the Parish of Lincoln, State 

of Louisiana. 

4. 

 Made Defendant herein is Office Depot, Inc. (hereinafter “Office Depot” or 

“Defendant”), a Florida corporation that is, upon information and belief, authorized to do and 

doing business in the State of Louisiana. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

5. 

 Plaintiff Henderson is an African-American male and owner of Henderson Financial 

Services, LLC in Ruston, Louisiana, where he provides services to the public as a professional 

accountant. 

6. 

 On or about January 24, 2015, at approximately 2 P.M., Plaintiff Henderson drove to 

Defendant Office Depot’s Ruston, Louisiana store, located in Lincoln Parish, to purchase a 

printer. 

7. 

 Upon entering the store, Henderson walked to the aisle where the printers were on 

display.  Plaintiff waited in the aisle for 15 minutes, but was not acknowledged by a sales 

representative or any other agent of Defendant Office Depot. 
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8. 

 Plaintiff then politely took off his hat and waived at the cashier to get his attention, who 

in turn called for someone to help Henderson.  However, Plaintiff waited for an additional 10 

minutes without being helped or his presence being acknowledged any further. 

9. 

 Plaintiff then walked to another aisle and sought assistance from another of Defendant’s 

sales representatives, upon information and belief going by the name “Cat,” a Caucasian female, 

to help him choose a printer to purchase.  However, Defendant’s sales representative, “Cat,” was 

assisting another customer, a Caucasian male, with a tax related issue. 

10. 

 Henderson, an accountant specializing in tax consulting, offered his advice to the other 

customer and told the sales representative that he would be in the printer aisle when she finished 

assisting the other gentleman. 

11. 

 Plaintiff browsed the printers on display as he waited for the sales representative to finish 

helping the other customer.  

12. 

 After Defendant’s sales representative finished assisting the Caucasian customer, instead 

of attending to Plaintiff the sales representative walked off the sales floor without acknowledging 

Plaintiff and did not return to assist him. 

13. 

 Shortly after the sales representative left the sales floor, another Caucasian male entered 

Office Depot.  Although Plaintiff was still waiting for assistance and had previously informed 
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the sales representative that he needed assistance, the sales representative, “Cat,” returned to the 

sales floor, ignored Plaintiff, and walked directly to the second Caucasian customer who had just 

entered the store, well after Henderson’s arrival and request for help, and began serving the 

Caucasian customer. 

14. 

 Plaintiff again waited while the sales representative assisted the second Caucasian 

customer. 

15. 

 At or about 2:45 p.m., after waiting without receiving assistance for at least 45 minutes 

while Defendant’s sales representative, “Cat,” tended to Caucasian customers, Plaintiff left the 

Ruston, Louisiana Office Depot store, having been overtly denied the opportunity to purchase a 

printer.   On his way out, Plaintiff informed the cashier that he would never return to the store 

because of the mistreatment he received. 

16. 

 For the entire duration of time for which Plaintiff was on Defendant’s premises, 

Defendant’s employees and agents were fully aware of his presence and had actual or 

constructive knowledge of Plaintiff’s interest in entering into a contract for the sale of a printer, 

as well as his need for assistance in selecting the appropriate piece of equipment for his 

purposes, as evidenced by his actions alleged herein. 

17. 

 Plaintiff’s interest in entering into a contract was fully evidenced and displayed by the 

fact that he specifically stated his need for assistance verbally to “Cat,” motioned to the 

salesperson at the front of the store, and positioned himself physically in the aisle where the 
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printers were located and remained in that location for an inordinate duration of time, conduct 

that is typical and customary in retail establishments such as Defendant’s, and such conduct 

constituted and amounted to a tangible attempt on Plaintiff’s part to contract. 

18. 

 Despite Plaintiff’s clear expression of interest in entering a contract with Defendant for 

the sale of a printer, Defendant, acting through its employees and agents, overtly, willfully and 

unlawfully refused to acknowledge Plaintiff’s presence and his actual and implied requests for 

assistance, thus thwarting and preventing the exercise of Plaintiff’s legal right and privilege of 

accepting Defendant’s offer of sale and denying Plaintiff actual contract interests. 

19. 

 Upon information and belief, and as will be demonstrated at trial, Defendant’s employees 

and agents thwarted and prevented the exercise of Plaintiff’s right to enter into a contract for the 

sale of office equipment and denied Plaintiff actual contract interests solely because Plaintiff is 

African-American.   

20. 

 Upon information and belief, as alleged herein, Defendant’s employees and agents 

willfully and deliberately acted in concert and in a coordinated fashion amounting to a 

conspiracy in their mutual effort to deny Plaintiff equal protection regarding the right to engage 

in commerce with Defendant as a member of the general public, and in thwarting his effort to 

enter into a contract with Defendant and causing Plaintiff’s loss of actual contract interests. 

21. 

 Upon information and belief, as will be demonstrated at trial, Defendant was fully aware 

and knowledgeable of the conspiracy among Defendant’s employees and agents to deny Plaintiff 
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the exercise of rights and interests enumerated in and protected under 42 U.S.C. §1985. 

22. 

 Defendant had the power and authority over its employees and agents to prevent or aid in 

the prevention of Plaintiff’s protected rights to engage in commerce as enumerated in and 

protected under 42 U.S.C. §1985, but neglected or refused to do so, as evident in the facts 

alleged herein. 

23. 

 Upon information and belief, Defendant was aware, prior to Plaintiff’s visit, that the sales 

representative at issue, “Cat,” had a history of discriminatory mistreatment of African-American 

customers who shopped at the Office Depot located in Ruston, Louisiana, but Defendant 

neglected and failed to prevent her wrongful and unlawful discriminatory actions or those of her 

fellow employees, despite having the power, authority, and a duty to do so. 

24. 

 As depicted in the photocopy of a photograph attached hereto as Exhibit A, taken from 

“Cat’s” online Facebook page on social media, showing her holding a noose and smiling, 

Defendant’s employee and agent, “Cat,” had a reputation for mistreating African-Americans that 

she did not deny or attempt to hide form the general public or her employer, Office Depot.  

25. 

 As alleged here in and as will be demonstrated at trial, Defendant’s intentional 

mistreatment of Henderson violated clearly established federal laws protecting individuals such 

as Plaintiff from discriminatory treatment based on the personal characteristics of race, color and 

national origin. 
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26. 

 Upon information and belief, all of Defendant’s actions complained of herein were 

performed with malice and/or reckless indifference to Henderson’s federally protected rights. 

27. 

 At all material times herein, Defendant was liable for the conduct of its managers, 

employees and/or agents, including but not limited to “Cat,” under the doctrine of Respondeat 

Superior. 

28. 

 Plaintiff is entitled to extraordinary, nonpecuniary damages because Defendant intended, 

through its agents’ egregious conduct toward Plaintiff, to aggrieve Plaintiff’s feelings. 

29. 

 As a result of the unlawful actions described above, Defendant is liable to Henderson for 

damages, including lost benefits; mental anguish; humiliation and embarrassment; loss of 

reputation; loss of enjoyment of life; foreseeable and unforeseeable damages; compensatory 

damages; punitive damages; prejudgment interest; attorney’s fees and all costs of these 

proceedings. 

Count I: Racial Discrimination under 42 U.S.C. §1981 

30. 

 As alleged herein, Plaintiff is African-American. 

31. 

 As demonstrated by the actions of Defendant’s employees and agents, refusing to engage 

Plaintiff as a citizen endowed with the right to equal protection under the law and the right to 

engage in commerce, make and enforce contracts, Defendant Office Depot willfully and 
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intentionally discriminated against Plaintiff, serving Caucasian customers but thwarting 

Plaintiff’s right to exercise his protected contract interests. 

32. 

 On or about January 24, 2015, while present at Defendant’s establishment, Defendant’s 

discriminatory treatment directly infringed upon Plaintiff’s right to exercise his right to engage in 

the making of contracts in commerce, as specifically enumerated and protected under 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1981, et seq.  

33. 

 Thus, as specifically alleged herein, Defendant has engaged in actions and practices 

constituting violations of the Civil Rights Act of 1866, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §1981 (1994), et 

seq. including, but not limited to, subjecting Plaintiff to intentional race-based discrimination 

causing him to be subjected to discriminatory treatment which in turned prevented him from 

making and enforcing a contract because of his race. 

34. 

 As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s actions, Plaintiff has suffered 

compensable harm and damages, including but not limited to the actual loss of his protected 

contract interests, for which Defendant is liable. 

Count II: Failure to Prevent Wrongful and Illegal Acts under 42 U.S.C. §§1985 and 1986 

35. 

 As specified herein, Defendant’s employees and agents cooperated in their joint, willful 

and deliberate scheme to deprive Plaintiff of his protect rights to engage in commerce under  

Title 42. 

 

Case 3:15-cv-02907-RGJ-KLH   Document 24   Filed 08/01/16   Page 8 of 11 PageID #:  148



9 

 

36. 

 The coordination of efforts and cooperation displayed by Defendant’s employees and 

agents—each of whom refused to render appropriate assistance to Plaintiff as a customer and 

each of whom refused, on Defendant’s behalf, to engage in commerce and inter into contract 

with Plaintiff—constituted a conspiracy to deprive Plaintiff of equal protection of the law. 

37. 

 In particular, the conduct inflicted upon Plaintiff by Defendant and its employees and 

agents violates 42 U.S.C. §1985(3), thus rendering Defendant liable for having deprived Plaintiff 

of equal protection under the law and blocked him from enjoying the privileges and immunities 

to which he is entitled. 

38. 

 The conspiracy in which Defendant’s employees and agents engaged was intended to 

cause Plaintiff to be deprived of his equal protection under the law and the exercise of privileges 

and immunities to which Plaintiff is entitled. 

39. 

 Defendant’s employees and agents, through their concerted and consistent refusal to 

render assistance to Plaintiff and engage him in contract, took affirmative steps in furthering 

their conspiracy. 

40. 

 Defendant had knowledge of the discrimination and violation of constitutional rights 

perpetrated upon Henderson and/or other constitutional minority patrons, but neglected and 

failed to prevent said wrongful and unlawful acts when they had power, authority, and a duty to 

do so. 
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41. 

 This neglect and refusal to prevent, aid in preventing, or rectify is a violation of 42 

U.S.C. §1986.  Thus, as a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s inaction and the acts 

alleged herein under taken by Defendant’s employees and agents, Henderson has been harmed 

and damaged and is entitled to recover from Defendant any and all damages, whether foreseeable 

or not, pecuniary and nonpecuniary, that have arisen and/or continue to arise therefrom. 

JURY DEMAND 

42. 

 Plaintiff demands trial by jury on all issues so triable herein. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Joseph Henderson, Sr., prays that Defendant be duly cited and 

required to appear and answer Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint for Damages and Jury Demand 

and, after due proceedings had and legal delays, there be judgment rendered herein in favor of 

Plaintiff and against Defendant as detailed in the foregoing Petition for Damages and Jury 

Demand, in an amount reasonable in the premises, together with legal interest from the date of 

judicial demand, all costs of these proceedings, attorneys’ fees and for any and all general and 

equitable relief deemed appropriate by this Honorable Court under the circumstances. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

     s/G. Karl Bernard                                                

     G. Karl Bernard (#24294)  

     G. KARL BERNARD & ASSOCIATES, LLC 

     1615 Poydras Street, Suite 220 

     New Orleans, Louisiana  70112 

     Telephone: (504) 412-9953 

     Facsimile: (504) 412-8088 

     karlbernardlaw@bellsouth.net   

 

     Attorney for Plaintiff, Joseph Henderson, Sr. 
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